
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Ben Caulfield, Policy and Scrutiny Officer,  
Email:  ben.caulfield@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Monday, 11 July 2022 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Tuesday, 19 July 2022 at 3.00 pm, 
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Patrick McGinley (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Carole Haythornthwaite, Andrew Clegg, Paddy Short, Noordad Aziz, Dominik Allen, 
Scott Brerton, Bernard Dawson, Terry Hurn and Paul Barton 
 
Cooptees: Stephen Button, Doug Hayes, Ken Moss and Paul Barton 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

2.   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 

To submit the Minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held on Thursday 17th March 2022 for approval as a correct record. 
  
Recommended - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 
correct record. 
 

3.   Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes  (Pages 5 - 14) 
 
This report requests that the Overview and Scrutiny Committees give consideration to 
and approve the work programmes for Overview and Scrutiny for 2022/23. 
 
Recommended: 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 
That The Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves its work programme for 
2022/23. 
 

4.   Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review  (Pages 15 - 20) 
 
 
To present to the Hyndburn BC Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee a progress 
report for Hyndburn Leisure, highlighting performance following capital investments and 
the Trust’s recovery from COVID-19. 
 

5.   Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme  (Pages 21 - 26) 
 

To provide Overview and Scrutiny with an overview of the Council Tax 
Energy Rebate Scheme and the Councils approach to the administration of 
this scheme. 

 

 
 



 
1 

 
RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 17th March, 2022 

 
Present:  Councillor Paddy Short (in the Chair),  

Councillors Andrew Clegg and Noordad Aziz (Vice Chair), June Harrison 
Co-optees: Doug Hayes and Bernard Dawson 
 

In Attendance: Councillor Joyce Plummer 

  

Apologies: Councillors Carole Haythornthwaite, Michael Hindley and Tim O'Kane 
 

 
307 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies were submitted from Councillors Tim O’Kane, Michael Hindley and Carole 
Haythornthwaite. Councillor June Harrison substituted for Councillor Tim O’Kane. 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

308 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 16th February 
2022 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Doug Hayes, Cooptee, stated that that an amendment was required in the minutes of the 
last meeting. He was marked as present when in fact he had sent apologies for the 
meeting. 
 
Resolved  -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record 
with the above amendment noted. 
 

309 Review of Non Domestic Rates Collection 
 
The Chair welcomes Councillor Joyce Plummer, Lee Middlehurst, Head of Benefits and 
Revenues and Teresa Phelan to submit their report on Non Domestic Rates Collections. 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer provided a summary of the report and in depth responses to the 
advanced questions which they had received, which are listed below: 
 

1. Do we benchmark collection rates with other Local Authorities? If so how do our 
figures compare? 

 
2. Do you expect collection rates to return to previous highs and if so when? 

 
3. How does our process for billing/compliance/enforcement compare with the process 

for council tax collections? 
 

A written analysis relating to question one was also provided to members of the committee. 
 
Additional questions were submitted by members relating to the following: 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 Timings of the billing, compliance and enforcement stages, and how these affect our 
collection rates in comparison with other local authorities. 

 Value of non-domestic rates collected in previous years. 

 Enforcement monitoring. 
 
Councillor Plummer wished to place on record her thanks to the Benefits and Revenues 
service for the hard work and in particular their increased workload caused by the 
pandemic, during which numerous additional benefits were introduced and processed 
efficiently. The Chair echoed the thanks to all staff involved with the service. 
 
Lee Middlehurst thanked the Committee for the opportunity to present to them and looked 
forward to further opportunities to work with Councillors. 
 
Resolved - That the Committee notes the content of the report.  
 

310 Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review 
 
The Chief Executive of Hyndburn Leisure was due to report on this item but was unable to 
attend due to a positive Covid-19 test. Therefore the Chair moved that the item be deferred 
until the next meeting. 
 
Resolved - That the item “Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review” be deferred 
until the next meeting of the Committee.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 4



 

REPORT TO: Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee; Special Scrutiny Committee 

DATE: 19th July 2022; 7th September 2022; Date to be 
confirmed (Special Scrutiny) 

REPORT OF: Cllr Patrick McGinley, Chair of the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee; Cllr Loraine Cox, 
Chair of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee; Cllr Josh Allen, Chair of 
the Special Scrutiny 

REPORT AUTHOR: Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report requests that the Overview and Scrutiny Committees give consideration to 

and approve the work programmes for Overview and Scrutiny for 2022/23. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That: 
 
2.2 The Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves its work programme for 

2022/23. 
 
2.3 The Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee approves its work 

programme for 2022/23. 
 
2.4 The Special Scrutiny Committee approves its work programme for 2022/23. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 At the beginning of each municipal year, the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees each agree a work programme for the year. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



 

 
3.2 The process for agreeing the work programme is set out in Overview and Scrutiny 

procedure rule C6(a) as follows; 
 

“The chair and vice chair of each overview and scrutiny committee will meet with the 
Cabinet within four weeks of each Annual Meeting to discuss the Cabinet’s policy 
priorities for the coming year. The chairs and vice chairs will propose a draft work 
programme for their committee within two weeks of that meeting. The draft work 
programmes will be submitted to the next following meeting of the Cabinet for 
comment and the draft work programme for each overview and scrutiny committee will 
then be submitted to the next following meeting of that committee (together with any 
comments or recommendations from the Cabinet) for approval.” 
 

3.3 A draft work programme for each of the Committees is submitted. This will be sent in 
draft to Cabinet, then to both Scrutiny Committees along with any comments from 
Cabinet. Due to the timings of meetings, the Scrutiny and Policy Offer will provide any 
comments from Cabinet at the meeting.The Scrutiny Committees will then approve a 
full programme. 

 
3.4 The work programmes have been developed following consideration of the Council’s 

guide for selecting items for scrutiny and consultation including: 
 

• Multiple emails to all Councillors 
• Suggestions sought from all service managers 
 Social media coverage for public suggestions 
• Informal meeting with the Cabinet 

 
3.5 Thirty requests for items to be considered for Scrutiny were submitted by Service Heads, 

Councillors (Including Cabinet members), Co-optees and members of the public. There 
were several requests of a similar nature so in some cases, requested items have been 
merged. These items were discussed in depth between the Scrutiny Chairs and Cabinet 
Members before producing the work programmes. 

 
3.6 In addition, 3 items were included as standing or statutory items (Budget, Crime and 

Disorder, and Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review). 
 
3.7 It was acknowledged that, for the Special Scrutiny Committee, with a remit to consider 

Levelling Up, County Deals and Accrington Town Centre, the Work Programme should 
take a more flexible approach allowing for items to be scrutinised at the most appropriate 
times. 

 
3.8 Not all suggested items were deemed suitable for Scrutiny, in which case these 

suggestions have not been included in the programme.  
 
3.9 We have sought to provisionally allocate items to specific meetings.  These may be 

subject to change during the year. 
 
3.10 As in previous years, additional items can be added to the work programmes as the year 

progresses following scrutiny procedure rules. 

Page 6



 

 
3.11 The three Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes can be seen below: 

Page 7



 

 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2022-23 
Date 
 

Item Reason Requested Attendance 

19th July Work Programme 
 
Hyndburn Leisure Annual Update 
 
 
 
Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme 

To approve the 2022-23 Work Programme 
 
Previously agreed as a standing item to 
monitor outcomes of Council’s capital 
investments 
 
Residents may be facing difficulties in 
relation to the cost of living, Councillors 
wish to ensure residents are able to access 
this funding as efficiently as possible 

Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer 
Lyndsey Sims (CEO, Hyndburn 
Leisure) and Cllr Marlene Haworth  
 
 
Lee Middlehurst (Head of Benefits 
and Revenues) and Cllr Joyce 
Plummer 

6th September Performance Review To provide an update on departmental 
performance against their agreed 
performance indicators 
 

Stuart Sambrook (Policy Manager) 

20th October Accrington Stanley Community Trust Capital 
Funding Grant 

To understand the rationale behind the 
Council’s capital investment and the 
proposed outcomes 

Joe McIntyre (Deputy Chief 
Executive), Cllr Miles Parkinson and 
a representative from ASCT 

15th December Leisure Transformation 
 
 
 
 
Land and building assets update 

To review the plans associated with this 
project, with a focus on proposals for the 
future of facilities in Great Harwood and 
Clayton-Le-Moors 
 
Scrutiny carried out a review several years 
ago into the Council’s land assets. The 
Committee requests an update on the sale 
of assets since then and the process for 
members of the public enquiring about 
sales 

Lyndsey Sims (CEO Hyndburn 
Leisure), Joe McIntyre (Deputy 
Chief Executive) and Cllr Marlene 
Haworth 
 
Mark Hoyle (Head of Regeneration 
and Housing), Helen McCue-
Melling (Regeneration and 
Property Manager) and Cllr Kath 
Pratt 

P
age 8



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9th February Prudential Indicators and Treasury 
Management 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 
General Fund Revenue Budget 
Capital Programme 

Statutory duty to review the budget Joe McIntyre (Deputy Chief 
Executive), Cllr Miles Parkinson, 
Cllr Joyce Plummer. Cllr Munsif 
Dad 

16th March Transparency 
 
 
Mayoralty 
 
 
Smart Working Policy 

Report on the financial data published by 
the Council and the reasons behind this 
 
Including budget, allowances and 
distribution of charity funds 
 
To review progress on the Smart Working 
Policy which was introduced last year 

Jane Ellis (Executive Director) and 
Cllr Joyce Plummer 
 
Jane Ellis (Executive Director) 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett (Head of Policy and 
OD) and Cllr Joyce Plummer 

Notes Consideration to be given to conducting a 
review of expenditure across townships if 
capacity permits. 
 

  

P
age 9



 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2022-23 
Date 
 

Item Reason Requested Attendance 

7th July Meeting Cancelled 
 

  

7th September Work Programme 
 
 
Allotments 
 
 
 
Pest Control 

To approve the 2022/23 Work Programme 
 
 
To review the current service including 
budget, pricing, vacancy rates and any 
plans for future allotment provision 
 
To review the current services offered to 
customers and if/how these have been 
affected by the pandemic 

Ben Caulfield (Scrutiny and Policy 
Officer) 
 
Ian Marfleet (Allotments Manager) 
and Cllr Steven Smithson 
 
 
Craig Haraben and Cllr Steven 
Smithson 

19th October Mental Health Update 
 
 
 
Household Support Fund 

To provide an update on progress made 
against recommendations previously 
approved by Cabinet 
 
To review how the scheme has supported 
local charities and individuals 

Ben Caulfield, Kirsten Burnett 
(Head of Policy and OD), Cllrs Kath 
Pratt and Josh Allen 
 
Lyndsey Sims (CEO Hyndburn 
Leisure) 

14th December Fly tipping 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sports pitches, grass cutting and plating 
programmes 
 
 

Fly tipping is a major concern to Hyndburn 
residents. How is the service tackling this 
issue including clean ups, preventative 
measures and enforcement, and how do 
we compare to other authorities. 
 
To receive a general update on the councils 
strategy for sports pitches and programme 
of grass cutting and flower planting 
 

Steve Riley (Executive Director), 
Mick Coyne (Environmental 
Services) and Cllr Steven Smithson 
 
 
 
Steve Riley (Executive Director), 
Craig Haraben (Environmental 
Services) and Cllr Steven Smithson 
 
 

P
age 10



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Play Areas Review of current provision, expenditure 
and planned upgrades across the Borough. 

 
As above 

15th March Crime and Disorder 
 
 

Statutory Duty to scrutinise crime and 
disorder, including local policing and 
community safety 

Lancashire Police, Kirsten Burnett 
(Head of Policy and OD) and 
Community Safety Officer 
 

Notes Option to add an additional meeting in year 
if required due to cancelled meeting on 7th 
July 

  

P
age 11



 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Special Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2022-23 
Dates TBC 
 

Item Reason Requested Attendance 

Meeting 1 Levelling Up Bid 
 
 
UK Prosperity Funds Plan 
 

To consult the Committee on the Council’s 
levelling up funding bid 
 
To consult the Committee on the Council’s 
UK Prosperity Fund Plans 

Steve Riley (Executive Director) and 
Cllr Peter Britcliffe 
 
As above 

Meeting 2 Town Centre Events 
 
 
 
Town Centre Parking 

To scrutinise the distribution of funding for 
Town Centre Events. 
 
 
To scrutinise the availability of town centre 
parking and the inconsistencies with 
permitted parking stays at on street 
parking sites 

Victoria Tindall (Business and 
Marketing Coordinator) and Cllr 
Marlene Haworth 
 
Invite LCC 

Meeting 3 Devolution and County Deal To consult the Committee on talks 
regarding devolution and a county deal 

David Welsby (Chief Executive) and 
Cllr Peter Britcliffe 

Meeting 4 Items to be added 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Meeting 5 Items to be added 
 
 

  
 

Notes Committee will require some degree of 
flexibility to ensure scrutiny happens at 
appropriate times. 

  

P
age 12



 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
 
4.1 Not applicable to this report 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 All Councillors and Service Heads were given the opportunity to contribute to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme. 
 
5.2 Members of the public were invited to suggest items. 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None arising from this report 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

Not applicable 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not applicable 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Not applicable 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 None 
 
 

Page 13



 

 

Page 14



  Page 1 of 6  

HBC Resources & Scrutiny Committee 

  

 

 

Date of Meeting:  19th July 2022  

Report of:  Lyndsey Sims  

Title:  Chief Executive Officer  

 

SUBJECT  

  

Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review   

PURPOSE OF REPORT  

  

To present to the Hyndburn BC Resources & Scrutiny Committee a progress report for 

Hyndburn Leisure, highlighting performance following capital investments and the Trust’s 

recovery from COVID-19.   

RECOMMENDATIONS  

  

 That the content of the report is noted 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4.



  Page 2 of 6  

 

1.0  The journey to zero subsidy 

 

1.1 In 2009 the annual management grant from Hyndburn BC to the Leisure Trust was £1.28 

million.  At this time the Trust generated an annual income from charitable activities of 

£1.46 million and the overall turnover achieved by the charity was £2.74 million. 

 

1.2 Around this time the Council and Trust agreed a 10-year grant reduction plan, with a view 

to the Leisure Trust receiving no grant to operate and manage the Leisure Estate from 

April 2021. 

 

1.3 The year-on-year planned reductions to the management grant paid to the Trust by 

Hyndburn BC to operate the Leisure Estate has required the Trust to revise its business 

model to become far more commercially focused. In recent years a stronger emphasis 

has also been placed on the Trust’s delivery of community focused, health and wellbeing 

services. 

 

1.4 Since 2008/09, the management fee paid to the Trust by Hyndburn BC has reduced to 

zero. The year on year reductions to the management fee have provided cumulative 

savings for the Council of over £9 million. 

 

1.5 2021/22 is the first financial year that the Trust will be operating without a management 

grant from Hyndburn BC.  The Trust continues to work hard to maximise income and 

reduce expenditure, whilst delivering positive health outcomes for our community and 

providing paid employment for a large number of Hyndburn residents.    

 

1.6 Despite the challenges that the pandemic has and is expected to continue to bring, the 

Trust are focused on recovering from the effects of COVID-19 and remain determined to 

impact positively on the health and wellbeing of our community. 

 

1.7 The Leisure Trust’s work remains rooted in local communities, providing bespoke 

opportunities and programmes to meet the needs of the local population, with a 

commitment to providing inclusive, supportive & welcoming environments for people from 

across the Borough and surrounding areas. 

 

2.0  2021/22 performance and charity highlights 

 

2.1 Generating significant income from fees & charges is essential to operate the charity.  

Closures from December 2020 until April 2021 impacted on our ability to rebuild 

membership and participation levels.  However, since reopening again from April 2021 

our facilities and services have welcomed back good levels of members and customers.  

Some operational highlights are as follows: 

 Fitness Membership at Hyndburn Leisure Centre is at 90% of pre-Covid levels 

 Feel Good Membership at Hyndburn Leisure Centre and Mercer Hall Leisure Centre is 
at 44% and 35% of pre-Covid levels respectively 

 Super Gymnastics membership at Hyndburn Leisure Centre is performing very well and 
is above pre-Covid levels 

 Learn to Swim membership at Hyndburn Leisure Centre is performing very well and is 
above pre-Covid levels 

Page 16



  Page 3 of 6  

 The Trust took on the operational management of community use of the Leisure, Sport 
& Culture facilities at Accrington Academy from January 2022.  Membership and 
bookings are growing steadily. 

 Accrington Town Hall is currently performing above pre-Covid levels, with regular hire 
bookings, private events and a growing programme of entertainment. 

 Clayton Civic Hall was asset transferred to the Trust and over £250k of capital investment 
has been secured to carry out a broad programme of capital improvement.  The site will 
re-launch this summer as Clayton Community Centre. 

2.2  Our year in numbers: 
 

 Over 1000 people engaged in the Community Champions health & wellbeing programme 

 42% growth in Fitness Membership at Hyndburn Leisure Centre  

 895 young people are taking part in learn to swim lessons every week 

 690 inactive people with at least one long term health condition engaged in the Lifestyle 
Hub  

 150 attendances every week at Cardiac Rehabilitation classes  

 390 bookings at Accrington Town Hall  

 £350k invested into the maintenance, repairs and capital developments across all 
facilities 

 £1.63 million of commissions, donations & external grants secured 

 3208 places provided on Fun with Food & Friends sessions for young people who are 
eligible for free school meals  

 64 School Swimming sessions every week during term time 

 436 young people taking part in Gymnastics every week 

 £1.2 million increase in income from fees & charges and trading 

 4623 junior attendances at £1.50 school holiday swimming sessions 

 Over £500k of funding distributed to residents, businesses, charities and groups across 
Hyndburn 

 2328 Fitness Member sign ups  

 76% of our employees live in Hyndburn  

 42% of employees age 25 or under  

 51 people have been supported to gain or maintain their National Pool Lifeguard 
Qualification 

Page 17



  Page 4 of 6  

 34 people have been supported to gain a First aid qualification  

 14 new volunteers recruited and trained to support across our facilities and services  

 80 sports clubs and groups hosted across our facilities 

 Over 600 attendances at Frog & Bucket comedy nights  

 £1.98 million invested in reducing carbon outputs at Hyndburn Leisure by up to 74% 

 

2.3 The Leisure Trust’s work continues to centre around improving health outcomes and 

reducing inequalities for our community.  We are very pleased to welcome back new and 

existing participants across a range of services including: 

 Cardiac Rehabilitation Phase 4 

 Tier 2 Weight Management 

 Community Champions programme 

 Active Lifestyles Hub 

 

2.4 We are also proud to lead and contribute to a range of projects on behalf of the Borough 
including: 

 Hyndburn Hub 

 National Lottery Healthier Communities Programme 

 Business Health Matters 

 Together an Active Future (known locally as Let’s Move Hyndburn) 

 Holiday Activities Food programme (known locally as Fun with Food & Friends) 

 Play and Skills at Teatime Activities 

 

2.5 Despite the level of progress that has been made, the Trust continues to be open to a 

number of risks which can negatively impact upon the sustainability of the organisation 

including:   

 Uncontrollable budget pressures placed upon the Trust, including pandemic restrictions 

and significant increases to the cost of electricity and gas, will reduce the Trust’s capability 

to plan and manage the business effectively 

 The Trust is subject to elasticity in its demand income and a level of uncontrollable costs  

 Delay in progressing any investment and capital development strategy will defer income 

opportunities 

2.6 The Trust forecast a deficit operating budget of £52k in 2021/22.  

2.7 Our half year positon, forecast an operating profit of £143k, an improvement against 

budget of £195k.  However additional costs for utilities from October 2021, a slow 

recovery rate at Mercer Hall Leisure Centre and facility closures to the 3G pitch, Sports 

hall and Soft Play centre at Hyndburn Leisure Centre reduced this improvement by 

£134.5k. 

2.8 Our end of year operating profit, before depreciation for 2021/22 was £8.5k. 

Page 18



  Page 5 of 6  

3.0  Hyndburn Leisure’s future vision: Investing in the Health & Wellbeing of our 

communities 

  

3.1 The importance of physical and mental health and the contribution physical activity 

makes to individual and community health and well-being has been brought into sharp 

focus by COVID-19.   

 

3.2  Recent evidence shows that physical inactivity is a significant, independent risk factor 

for a range of long term health conditions affecting society today. 

  

3.3 By contrast, an active lifestyle shows clear benefits in the treatment, management or 

prevention of many long term health conditions.  Physical activity also has benefits for 

mental health, quality of life and maintaining independent living in older age.   

 

3.4 The greatest health benefits will be experienced by those residents who move from 

doing no physical activity to just a little.   

 

3.5 The cost of inactivity to the Hyndburn economy is not sustainable - transformational and 

preventative approaches are needed.  Increasing levels of physical activity will deliver 

on the Council’s vision to ‘drive growth and prosperity in Hyndburn’.  

 

3.6 Hyndburn Leisure is currently in the process of developing a new strategy.  The Trust’s 

key focus over the coming years will be to build on its work to support more local 

residents to live healthy, active lifestyles.  Included in our vision will be an ambition to 

attract and grow investment into physical activity programmes, facilities and networks. 

 

3.7 The Trust also continues to prioritise the Leisure Transformation project, to develop a 

shared local strategic vision that is deliverable and distinctive whilst at the same time, 

creating the optimal mix of facility and service interventions with a strong sense of place 

and good connections with the wider area.    

 

3.8 The current indoor and outdoor sport and leisure facilities in Hyndburn are ageing and 

require significant levels of investment to maintain the current service offer. The work of 

the Council and the Trust over the past three years has aimed to understand the 

potential to enhance the existing leisure offer to maximise positive outcomes for the 

local community. 

 

3.9 During 2021/22 the Trust has played a key role in the following progress in phase one 

of the Leisure Transformation: 

 

 Carry out capital developments at Clayton Civic Hall, developing a bespoke 

boxing facility that will be home to Clayton Amateur Boxing Club and 

improving energy efficiency.   Hyndburn Leisure was awarded £185,088 from the 

Community Ownership fund for capital improvements to Clayton Civic Hall. This new 

funding is being used alongside a £50k Sport England grant awarded to Clayton 

Amateur Boxing Club and a £30k grant from the Lancashire Environment Fund to 

develop the site, creating a new Community Wellbeing Hub. In total over £265k has 

been invested in this important facility. 

 

Page 19



  Page 6 of 6  

 Deliver a £2m Carbon reduction capital development at Hyndburn Leisure 

Centre.  A large-scale project has been completed to reduce carbon output at the 

facility by up to 74%. The scheme has received £1.98 million of external funding from 

the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme.  We’ve removed outdated gas boilers 

and installed two air source heat pumps, 560 PV solar panels, a new air handling unit 

for the pool, new pool circulation pumps, a building energy management system and 

a new electricity substation for the site. This is a huge step in getting us on our way to 

our goal of hitting net-zero and 100% clean energy across all facilities by 2030. 

 

 

 Apply to the Sport England Strategic Facility Fund.  The Council has been invited 

to submit a combined Expression of Interest (EOI) to Sport England’s Strategic 

Facilities Fund for £2 million: £1.5 million for a new facility to replace Mercer Hall 

Leisure Centre and £0.5 million for the Hyndburn Leisure Centre refurbishment.  The 

EOI will be made in September 2022. Once we’ve received approval from Sport 

England, two separate applications will then be made for £1.5 million and £0.5 million 

in early 2023. 

 

 Work with the local community to develop a vision for the future of the Mercer 

Hall Leisure Centre site. A full public consultation in March 2021 saw Hyndburn 

Council share detailed plans and proposals with residents to gather their input and 

opinions. 853 people participated in the consultation process and made a number of 

constructive and helpful responses. In the meantime, Mercer Hall continues to run, 

offering gym facilities, a feel good suite, exercise studio, sauna and steam room, and 

we’re committed to keeping it open until a replacement site is complete and open. 

The swimming club and school swimming lessons have already been accommodated 

Accrington Academy and we’ve received some very positive feedback about the 

change. We have recently joined a community-led steering group, to focus on the 

future of the site, to ensure that it remains a community asset.  

 

 Work with Hyndburn Academy to attract investment to further develop sport & 

leisure facilities at the Academy.  Since January 2022, we’ve been running Leisure 

and Cultural facilities at Accrington Academy, widening community swimming and 

sport provision and supporting the school in starting up school swimming lessons. 

We’re also looking forward to working with Hyndburn Academy to introduce a 

community water sports programme after they secured funding from Super Slow Way 

to reinstate the jetty on the canal. 

 

 

4.0 Recommendations  

  

 That the content of the report is noted 

Page 20



Page 1 of 6 
 

REPORT TO: Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

DATE: 19 July 2022 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Lee Middlehurst 

Head of Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact 

TITLE OF REPORT: Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To provide Overview and Scrutiny with an overview of the Council Tax Energy Rebate 

Scheme and the Councils approach to the administration of this scheme. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Overview and Scrutiny note the contents of the report and comment accordingly 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Overview and Scrutiny have requested this report for information purposes only. 
 
3.2  The Government, on 3 February 2022, announced a package of support known as the 

Energy Bills Rebate to help households with rising energy bills, worth £9.1 billion in 
2022-2023. This includes: 

 
• A £150 non-repayable rebate for households in England in Council Tax bands A to 

D, known as the Council Tax Energy Rebate. 
 

• £144 million of discretionary funding for billing authorities to support households 
who are in need but are not eligible for the main Council Tax Energy Rebate 
Scheme, known as the Discretionary Fund. 

 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5.



Page 2 of 6 
 

 
3.3      On 23 February 2022, Government issued detailed guidance to billing authorities in   

relation to the administration of the Council Tax Energy Rebate, and the Discretionary 
Fund. 

 
 
 Council Tax Rebate – Eligibility Criteria  
 
 
3.4      The eligibility criteria for the Council Tax Energy Rebate, is based on a household 

meeting all of the following factors, as at 01 April 2022;  
 

• The property is in Council Tax valuation band A to D. This includes properties 
that are valued in band E, but have an alternative valuation band of band D, as a 
result of the disabled band reduction scheme; 

 
• It is someone’s sole or main residence; 

 
• It is a chargeable dwelling, or in the following exemption classes – 

Class N – Wholly occupied by students 
Class S – Wholly occupied by persons under 18 
Class U – Wholly occupied by severely mentally impaired persons 
Class W – Occupied annexe to an occupied dwelling 
 

• The person liable to pay Council Tax is not a local authority, a corporate body, or 
other body such as a housing association, the Government, or government body. 

 
3.5 A property that meets all the above criteria, but has nil Council Tax  liability as a result 

of Council Tax Support, will be eligible. 
 
3.6 A property that has no permanent resident and is someone’s second home will not be  
 eligible.  
 
3.7      An unoccupied property will not be eligible. 
 
3.8 The Council estimate that 35,000 households meet the eligibility criteria for the  
 Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme.  
 
  
 Council Tax Rebate – Households with a live direct debit instruction. 
 
3.9 The Government guidance in relation to the Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme  
 outlines that where a Council holds a live direct debit instruction for an eligible  
 household, they should make an automatic payment as early as possible in the  
 2022/2023 financial year, provided that they are assured that the household is eligible  
 and the bank details have been verified. 
 
3.10 In addition, the Government guidance outlines that all payments within the scope of the 

scheme must be made by 30 September 2022. 

Page 22



Page 3 of 6 
 

 
3.11 The software solution for the administration of the Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme 

was provided to the Council late April 2022. This software solution has been subject to 
a number of minor updates to date. 

 
3.12 Following extensive testing of the software solution, and the Council undertaking pre-

payment checks, the Council commenced Energy Rebate payments to eligible 
households, where it held a live direct debit instruction on 09 May 2022. 

 
3.13  Energy Rebate payments to all 25,000 households where the Council holds a live 

direct debit instruction where completed by 25 May 2022. 
 
 
 Council Tax Rebate – Households without a live direct debit instruction 
 
3.14 The Government guidance in relation to the Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme 

outlines that Councils can determine an appropriate application method locally. This 
should take into consideration the software solutions available to them, but should 
include an option for residents who are digitally excluded. 

 
3.15 As referred to in paragraph 3.11 of this report, the software solution for the 

administration of the Council Tax Energy Rebate scheme was provided to the Council 
late April 2022.  This also included the framework of an application form for Councils to 
use for households where the Council does not hold a live direct debit instruction. 

 
3.16  The on-line application provides an option for a household to receive the Energy 

Rebate by BACS, or, by the rebate being allocated to their Council Tax account. 
 
3.17 Following extensive testing and customisation of the application form, the Council 

launched the application process on 16 June 2022.   
 
3.18 As part of this process, the Council notified eligible households direct by email of the 

availability of the application form to encourage applications. 
 
3.19 The Council have also issued correspondence by post to eligible households where an 

email address is not held to notify them of the availability of the application form. The 
communications issued by the Council are also complimented by use of the Councils 
social media channels. 

 
3.20 To support all households including those who may be digitally excluded, and to assist 

with the Energy Rebate scheme, the Council have set-up a dedicated team purely for 
the administration of the Energy Rebate Scheme. 

 
3.21 The Energy Rebate Team are available to assist residents with assisted applications 

by telephone, together with providing help and advice on the Energy Rebate scheme, 
and to facilitate the processing of the pre-payment checks that the Council are required 
to undertake for anti-fraud purposes. 

 

Page 23



Page 4 of 6 
 

3.22 At the time of this report being produced, the Council have received and processed all 
2500 Energy Rebate applications that have been submitted to date via the on-line 
application form. 

 
3.23 To ensure that all eligible households receive the Energy Rebate, including those who 

may fail to submit an application, the software solution provided to the Council includes 
a facility to allocate the Energy Rebate directly to the Council Tax account. The Council 
intends to use this function following the closure of the application period. 

 
 
 Discretionary Fund 
 
3.24 The Government recognises that billing authorities may also wish to provide support to 

other energy bill payers who are not eligible under the terms of the core Council Tax 
Rebate scheme, or to provide carefully targeted “top-up” payments to the most 
vulnerable households in bands A to D. 

 
3.25 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has made 

£215,250 available to the Council to provide support to households through the 
Discretionary Fund that are not eligible for existing support linked to the main Council 
Tax Energy Rebate scheme. 

 
3.26 The Councils’ Energy Rebate Discretionary Fund scheme was approved by Council on 

19th May 2022. 
 
3.27 The Council’s policy to determine who is eligible to receive support from the 

Discretionary Fund and to prioritise the applications received, follows the DLUHC 
guidance on the factors Councils should take into consideration when determining their 
Discretionary Fund scheme. The Council’s policy therefore outlines:  

 
a) The property is valued in Council Tax bands E – H; and 
b)  It is someone’s sole or main residence; and 
c) The person who is liable to pay the council tax (or would be where the property 

not exempt, under classes N, S, U and W) is not a landlord, local authority, a 
corporate body or other body such as a housing association, the government or 
governmental body, and 

d) The person liable for Council Tax, or their partner or someone in their 
household, is in receipt of one of the benefits listed below: 

 
• Child Tax Credit 
• Council Tax Support 
• Employment and Support Allowance (Income Related) 
• Housing Benefit 
• Income Support 
• Job Seekers Allowance (Income Based) 
• Pension Credit (Guaranteed Credit) 
• Pension Credit (Savings Credit) 
• Universal Credit 
• Working Tax Credit 

Page 24



Page 5 of 6 
 

 
Or 
 
e) The property is valued in Council Tax Bands E-H, in exemption classes listed 

below – 
 

Class N – Occupied only by students, school or college leavers 
Class S -- Occupied only be persons under 18 
Class U – Occupied only by severely mentally impaired persons 
Class W – Occupied annexe to an occupied dwelling 

 
Or  
 
f) The property is valued in Council Tax bands A-H, and  
g) the premises is classed as a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO), sheltered 

accommodation, or other property (excluding student halls of residence) where 
the household or tenant is not liable for Council Tax and,  

h) energy bill costs are included in the rent charged/terms of the tenancy, and,  
there has been a rent increase related to the rise in energy bills or the property 
has one or more household(s) within it that pay energy bills separately but not 
by the person who is shown as the liable persons for council tax. 

 
In addition, subject to funding availability, the Council will also consider an additional 
Discretionary Fund top-up payment to households in Council Tax bands A – H, that are 
in receipt of Council Tax Support.  The level of the top-up payment will be at the 
determination of the Council.  
 
 

3.28 For the Discretionary Fund scheme, the Council estimated up to 400 households, 
within valuation bands E-H that are considered to potentially meet the relevant 
eligibility criteria. With a further 6000 households potentially eligible for a top-up 
payment.  

 
3.29 As a pro-active measure the Council will target the publicity, and, availability of the 

Discretionary Fund scheme to these households to encourage applications to 
maximise the distribution of funding available.  

 
3.30 It is anticipated that the application process for the Discretionary Fund will be launched 

August 2022 
 
3.31 The Government guidance outlines that all payments within the scope of the scheme 

must be made by 30 November 2022 
 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 N/A 
 
 

Page 25



Page 6 of 6 
 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1 N/A 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

n/a 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

n/a 

Assessment of risk 
 

n/a 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

n/a 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 A copy of the Government guidance issued to billing authorities is available online – 
  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-billing-
authority-guidance  

 
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 26

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-billing-authority-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-council-tax-rebate-2022-23-billing-authority-guidance

	Agenda
	2. Minutes of Last Meeting
	3. Overview and Scrutiny Work Programmes
	4. Hyndburn Leisure Annual Review
	5. Council Tax Energy Rebate Scheme

